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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

U.S. SECURITIESAND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action No. 11-895 (JEB)
e-SMART TECHNOLOGIES, INC,, et al.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

The Securities and Exchange Commissiordftles suit against e-Smart Technologies,
Inc., three other companies, and five individuatserting numerous vidians of the securities
laws. One of those individuals, Defendant RoBeRowen, has now filed a Motion to Dismiss,
contending that this Court has juwisdiction over him, that venus improper here, and that the
SEC’s Complaint is legally insufficient. Findifpwen not to prevail on any of his arguments,
the Court will deny the Motion.
l. Background

The SEC alleges that e-Smart is eht@logy business engaged in selling an
identification-verification systm called a “smart card.” Compl.,  16. Among its various
misdeeds, e-Smart is alleged to have “engaged in an unregistered offering of millions of shares
of its securities in violation of Sectionod the Securities Act.”ld.,  61. This was
accomplished through a sham “convesildan scheme.”_Id., 1 64.

From 2005-07, Defendant Rowen and two othdividuals “solicited investors to

purchase e-Smart stock” and “were paid a $eI@mmission . . . for each sale of e-Smart
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shares they facilitated.”dl, § 75. “Rowen accomplished aaét 20 transactions which brought
in over $350,000 and sold over 4.5 million e-Smaatreb.” 1d., { 78. At the time, Rowen was
not “registered with the Commisgi as a broker-dealer or associated with a registered broker-
dealer.” 1d., 1 79. As a result, the two couwftthe Complaint against Rowen allege that he
violated the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. 88 77&f@ 77e(c), by selling unregistered securities,
see Compl., 11 90-93, and violated the Exchawiel5 U.S.C. 8§ 780(a), by selling securities
without being registered as aker or dealer. Compl., 1 113-15.

Rowen filed his Motion to Dismiss on Juy 2011. After initial briefing had been
completed, the Court asked for supplementafdoa the applicability of the recent D.C.

Circuit decision on venue in SEC v. Johnson, B&d 710 (D.C. Cir. 2011). The matter is now

ripe for decision.
[I. Legal Standard

In evaluating Defendant’s Motion to Dismiskee Court must “treat the complaint’s
factual allegations as true. and must grant plaintiff ‘the befiieof all inferences that can be

derived from the facts alleged.” SparrewUnited Air Lines, Inc., 216 F.3d 1111, 1113 (D.C.

Cir. 2000) (quoting Schuler v. United Stat647 F.2d 605, 608 (D.Cir. 1979)) (internal

citation omitted); see also Jerome Stevieharms., Inc. v. FDA, 402 F.3d 1249, 1253 (D.C. Cir.

2005). This standard governs the Court’s carsitions of Defendant’s Motions under both

Rules 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6). See Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974) (“in passing on a

motion to dismiss, whether on the ground of latfurisdiction over the subject matter or for
failure to state a cause of amtj the allegations of the complaghould be construed favorably

to the pleader”); Walker v. Jones, 733 FO28, 925-26 (D.C. Cir. 1984) (same). The Court

need not accept as true, however, “a legal losian couched as a faetl allegation,” nor an



inference unsupported by the facts set fortthenComplaint._Trudeaw Fed. Trade Comm’n,

456 F.3d 178, 193 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (quotingpBsan v. Allain, 478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986))

(internal quotation marks omitted).
To survive a motion to dismiss under Rulel®), a plaintiff bears the burden of

proving that the Court has persl jurisdiction over a defendant. FC Inv. Group LC v. IFX

Markets, Ltd., 529 F.3d 1087, 1091 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (citing Reuber v. United States, 787 F.2d

599 (D.C. Cir. 1986)). A court has an “affirmatiebligation to ensure that it is acting within

the scope of its jurisdimnal authority.” _Grand Lodge of &ternal Order of Police v. Ashcroft,

185 F. Supp. 2d 9, 13 (D.D.C. 2001). For this reasdine Tp]laintiff's factuad allegations in the
complaint . . . will bear closer scrutiny in resolving a 12(b)(1) motion’ than in resolving a
12(b)(6) motion for failure to state a claimid. at 13-14 (quoting 5A Charles A. Wright &

Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice and Procesl&r1350 (2d ed. 1987) (alteration in original)).

Additionally, unlike witha motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), the Court “may consider
materials outside the pleadings in deciding Wwheto grant a motion to dismiss for lack of

jurisdiction.” Jerome Stevens, 402 F.3d at 12Z&® also Venetian Casino Resort, L.L.C. v.

E.E.O.C., 409 F.3d 359, 366 (D.C. Cir. 2005) y&n the present postuoé this case — a
dismissal under Rule 12(b)(&h ripeness grounds — the courtyncansider materials outside
the pleadings”).

Rule 12(b)(6) provides for the dismissal ofation where a complaint fails “to state a
claim upon which relief can be granted.” Whka sufficiency of a amplaint is challenged
under Rule 12(b)(6), the factudlemations presented in it must peesumed true and should be

liberally construed in plaintiff's favor. Lea¢rman v. Tarrant Cty. Narcotics & Coordination

Unit, 507 U.S. 163, 164 (1993). The notice pleading rules are “not meant to impose a great



burden on a plaintiff,” Dura Pharm., Inc.Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 347 (2005), and he or she

must thus be given every favorable inference ey be drawn from the allegations of fact.

Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.%44, 584 (2007). Although “detailed factual

allegations” are not necessdoywithstand a Rule 12(b)(@otion, Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555,
“a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter,egated as true, to state a claim to relief that

is plausible on its face.” Ashcroft v. Idha29 S. Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009) (internal quotation

omitted). Plaintiff must put forth “factual contahat allows the court to draw the reasonable
inference that the defendant is liable for thisconduct alleged.” IdThough a plaintiff may
survive a 12(b)(6) motion even if “recovery igyeemote and unlikely,” Twombly, 550 U.S. at

555 (citing_Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 23G4)), the facts alleged in the complaint

“must be enough to raise a right to relibbae the speculative level.” Id. at 555.
[11. Analysis

Rowen relies on three separate grounds in brqthis Motion. First, he claims that he
“is not subject to the personal jurisdiction of tbaurt.” Mot. at 3. Second, he asserts that
venue in the District of Coluni is improper, which should yigla dismissal or a transfer to
“the District Court nearest to Mr. Rowen’s m@since.” _Id. Third, he maintains that “[t]he
complaint is defective and insufficient in failinggbow with any degree of specificity as to how
Mr. Rowen is alleged to have violated any fawd. The Court will address each in turn.

A. Personal Jurisdiction

The SEC alleges that Rowen violated the Sé&esriAct, 15 U.S.C. 88§ 77e(a) and (c), and
the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 780(a). Caiffl 90-93, 113-15. He argues that the pled
violations have nothing to do withe District of Columbia, thudepriving thigurisdiction of

minimum contacts with — and, hence, jurisdictiser — him. His interpretation of the law of



personal jurisdiction is too narrowlhe aforementioned statut@®vide for very broad service
of process._See § 78aa (“process . . . may begemany other district of which the defendant

is an inhabitant or wherever the defendany lm&found”) (emphasis added); § 77v(a) (same).

Congress “uses language permitting service ‘wherever the defendant may be found,” when it

“intends to permit nationwide personal gdiction.” Dynegy Midstream Services v.

Trammochem, 451 F.3d 89, 95-96 (2d Cir. 2008)r(gi8 78aa as example) (further citation
omitted). Numerous circuits have “uniformly held that ‘[w]hen the personal jurisdiction of a
federal court is invoked basegon a federal statute providifay nationwide or worldwide
service, the relevant inquiry is whether thgp@ndent has had sufficient minimum contacts with

the United States.” SEC v. Carrillo, 115 F.3d 1540, 1548 @it. 1997) (quoting In re

Application to Enforce Admin. of Subpoa of SEC v. Knowles, 87 F.3d 413, 417"{1Tr.

1996)) (emphasis added); see also Warfield v. Alaniz, 569 F.3d 1015, 10e#.(2009) (as

long as defendant has minimum contacts Witited States, any fedsd court has personal

jurisdiction over him under Exchange Act). Raweever denies his contacts with the United
States as a whole; indeed, heuld have difficulty so doing soe he lives in California. His
argument on personal juristin thus cannot prevail.

B. Venue

The SEC’s argument as to venue is not esgitforward. Undeboth the Securities Act
and the Exchange Act, venue is proper “in trsdriit wherein the defemdbt is found or is an
inhabitant or transacts business.” 15 U.8&78aa, 77v(a). Thosegwisions are clearly not
applicable here for this California-based Defant. The statutes, however, have other venue

options. Under the former, venue also lies “indrstrict where the offeor sale took place, if



the defendant participated thereir§”77v(a). Under the latter,atso lies “in the district wherein
any act or transaction constituting the violation occurred.” § 78aa.

In SEC v Johnson, the D.C. Circuit reversieel district court’$holding that venue was

proper under the Exchange Act where the SECdelpon “the co-conspirattineory of venue.”
Id. at 713-15. The defendant tedrad “allegedly aided and abetiedcheme, a material part of
which occurred in the District of Columbiald. at 713 (internal quotation marks omitted). In
reversing, the Court held, “If the only act allegedbne in this district is not linked to [the
defendant] in any of the ways listed in § 78aa, thertheory’ can supply #adeficiency.”_Id. at
715. The SEC argues that the venue analysisruhed=xchange Act here is different from
Johnson because “Rowen failed to register WiehSEC as a broker-dealer,” which registration
occurs here in Washington. PIl. Supp. Menk.afThe Court need not reach this question
because venue does lie here urtde Securities Act.

Under the Securities Act, the question is wdf did an offer or sale take place in
Washington, and did Rowen partiatg in it? The answers are yg3nce again, the Court, at
this stage of the proceedings, is not acting tctfinder, but is, istead, bound by the facts set
forth in the Complaint, particularly where f2adant has offered no other facts on venue aside
from general denials. The Complaint alleges thaéBmart operated primarily from the residence
of its CEO, Mary A. Grace, in the Georgetown area of Washington, DC,” Compl., I 16, and that
Grace and e-Smart sold shares of unregisterell stabe form of a convertible loan scheme
wherein investors sent e-Smarbney, and Grace, after a numbé&fraudulent steps, then
authorized the issuance of shares. Id., 1 61-6& i bertainly sufficiento allege the sale of

stock took place in the District of Columbia.



The Complaint further alleges that Rowemtiggpated: “Rowen solicited investors to
purchase e-Smart stock,” id., { 75, and he “acdisimgd at least 20 transactions which brought
it over $350,000 and sold over 4.5 million e-SmasareR.” Id.,  78. Since their sales,
according to the Complaint, were accomplished “through the loan scheme,” id., I 75, and since
Grace in Washington conducted all such salesgciemsr that Rowen parfjgated in a sale of
unregistered stock that took place in this judiciatriit. The Court, therefore, is not relying on
the impermissible co-conspirator theory of veriug,rather on Rowen’s ighict participation in

sales that occurred here. Verbes may lie in the District d€olumbia. _See Gambone v. Lite-

Rock Drywall Corp., 124 Fed.Appx. 78, 80 n3 (Cir. 2005) (“Morever, because the

transaction the complaint allegy&lefraud[ed Plaintiffs] of fads’ was the sale of stock in
Pennsylvania, we read the complaint legg that Luongo, although physically in Arizona,
participated in that Pennsylvania sale. Thusne¥ 22 of the '33 Act is of no avail to Luongo.”)
(emphasis original).

Given that venue lies here for the SecastAct count, pendent nee is appropriately
applied to the Exchange Act claim, even assignvienue is not otherwise proper, a decision the
Court does not make. “Whether to apply the @gle of pendent venua any given case is a
discretionary decision, based on applicable palmysiderations. Some of these considerations
will be the same as those that support theaseiof pendent jurisdiction — judicial economy,

convenience, avoidance of pieceirégmation, and fairness to tHagigants.” Beattie v. United

States, 756 F.2d 91, 103 (D.C. Cir. 1984), ovedale other grounds by Smith v. United States,

507 U.S. 197 (1993). Here, all of the factors fahe exercise of pendent venue since the two
counts are very closely linked their predicate facts, andette are several co-defendants

properly venued here.



Just because venue is proper here in Washington does not necessarily mean that Rowen is
forever stuck here. He may ainse point move for a change ofruee in the interest of justice
under 28 U.S.C. § 1404. If this venue is curgentbre appropriate fall other parties, his
success may be unlikely, yet, in the event o¥tWashington-based Defdants settle, see Joint
Motion to Extend [ECF No. 25] artte remains, he may have an increased chance of a transfer.
That, of course, is not for the Court to opine on now.

C. Sufficiency of Complaint

Last, Defendant spends much of higpRestrenuously denying he committed any
wrongdoing and naming witnesses he says wsujport him, see id. at 1-3, 8, but he is
neglecting the central standard of a motimler Rule 12(b)(6) — namely, the Court must
presume Plaintiff's allegations tra this juncture._See Sectiondlipra (setting forth the law
and citing cases). As previously explalnthe Complaint alleges that Defendant, by
communication in interstate commerce, solicitedestors and sold over 4.5 million shares of e-
Smart, even though no registration statementiwaffect for the securities and he was not
registered with the Commission as a broker-dealessociated with a registered broker-dealer.
Id., 19 78-79, 91-92, 114. As such conduct is pitgtdby 15 U.S.C. § 77e(a) and § 780(a)(1),

the SEC has sufficiently made out aint on which relief may be granted.



IV. Conclusion
Because none of Defendant Rowen’s argumeasses muster, the Court ORDERS that:
1. Defendant’s Motion is DENIED; and
2. He shall file an Answer on or before D&, 2011, or risk the entry of default.
Islames E. Boasberg

JAMES E. BOASBERG
United States District Judge

Date: December 12, 2011




